5

THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA

In the Court of Appeals

RECEIVED

MAR 17 2014

APPEAL FROM DORCHESTER COUNTY
Court of Common Pleas

SC Court of Appeals

Patrick R. Watts, Special Referee

Case No. 2013-000608

Irving T. Geddis, Jr., Harry M. Carroll, Barbara C. Stancil, & Joanne C. Wade.....Respondents,

v.

STATEMENT OF THE ISSUES ON APPEAL

1. DID THE SPECIAL REFEREE ERR IN CONCLUDING THAT THE SUBJECT PROPERTY CONSISTS OF 53.08 ACRES INSTEAD OF THE 35 1/3 ACRES ORIGINALLY CONVEYED?
2. DID THE SPECIAL REFEREE ERR IN FINDING THAT THE PLAINTIFFS HAD PROVEN THE ELEMENTS OF ADVERSE POSSESSION BY CLEAR AND CONVINCING EVIDENCE?

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

The real property that is the subject of this suit is situated in Dorchester County, South Carolina and is described in the Plaintiffs' Complaint as follows:

All that certain, piece, lot or tract of land containing 54 .03 acres, more or less, all as more fully shown on a plat entitled "Boundary survey of 54.03 acres owned by Irving T. Geddis and Irma Caroll, Geddisville area Dorchester County, South Carolina", by Robert J Sample, P.E, RLS, dated September 12, 2006, said plat being recorded in Dorchester County RMC's Office at plat Cabinet L, slide 32, on or about October 11, 2006.

Being the same premises conveyed to Irving T. Geddis, Sr., by deed of Adam E. Geddis, Katie Geddis, George E. Geddis, Maggie L. Thompson, Erma Geddis, Albert E. Geddis, Lilla Geddis, Harry Glenn, Joshua Glenn, Joseph Glenn, Robert W. Geddis, Constance Geddis, Angie S. Miniffee and Ornisha A. Geddis dated August 31, 1954 and recorded in the RMC Office for Dorchester County in Deed Book 109, at Page 73.

The legal description that appears on the 1954 deed, recorded in the RMC Office for Dorchester County at Book 109, Page 85:

All that certain piece, lot or tract of land, containing thirty five and one third (35 1/3) acres, more or less, situate, lying and being in the County of Colleton and State aforesaid, situated near the Edisto River and having the following boundaries to-wit: North by lands of James Perry; South by lands of Richard Geddis; East by lands of Mrs. Regina Yonahan, and West by lands of Isaac Singleton.

Being the same premises conveyed to Irving T. Geddis, Sr., by deed of Adam E. Geddis, Katie Geddis, George E. Geddis, Maggie L. Thompson, Erma Geddis, Albert E. Geddis, Lilla Geddis, Harry Glenn, Joshua Glenn, Joseph Glenn, Robert W. Geddis, Constance Geddis, Angie S. Miniffee and Ornisha A. Geddis dated August 31,

1954 and recorded in the RMC Office for Dorchester County in Deed Book 109, at Page 73.

On November 14, 2007, Plaintiffs initiated suit to quiet title against Defendants by the filing of Summons, Complaint and Lis Pendens with the Dorchester County Clerk of Court. (R. p. 2) An Amended Summons and Complaint were filed on December 6, 2007. (R. p. 10) A previous suit had been commenced in April of 2002 to quiet title to the subject property. The order from the Dorchester County Master-in-Equity at that time found that the Plaintiffs had fee simple title to the subject property, which was then thought to consist of 35 1/3 acres based upon the last previously recorded plat dated September 24, 1918. The Plaintiffs claimed in the new case, however, that after the Master-in-Equity's order from the 2002 case was issued, the property had been surveyed and the new survey prepared by Robert J. Sample and dated September 12, 2006 ("Sample Survey") revealed that the Plaintiffs' property actually consisted of 54.03 acres instead of 35 1/3 acres. The Plaintiffs alleged that, due to the new survey that showed the subject property consisting of substantially more acreage, the Plaintiffs owned the additional acreage under "color of title," and the legal doctrine of adverse possession. (R. p. 16, paragraphs 12, 13, 14)

The record indicates that all named Defendants were served with the Complaint and Amended Complaint. Defendant MWV Community Development and Land Management, LLC, and Defendant Patrice Geddis ("Appellant Patrice Geddis") timely filed Answers. (R. p. 19) Appellant Patrice Geddis's *pro se* Answer consisted of a general denial and did not raise any affirmative defense or counterclaim. (R. p. 19, 20) The remaining named Defendants did not file responsive pleadings and were subsequently held to be in default.

On August 1, 2011, the Court issued its Order referring this action to the Special Referee for the determination of all outstanding issues.

A hearing was held on November 17, 2011 after proper notice was given to all Defendants. It does not appear that Plaintiff Irving Geddis was present at this hearing. The only testimony that appears in the record is a document entitled "Transcript of Testimony" that was drawn in affidavit form, and signed by Plaintiffs Harry M. Carroll, Barbara C. Sencil, and Joanne C. Wade. This document was apparently submitted in lieu of hearing testimony, as there appears to be no record that any of the Plaintiffs were physically present at the November 17, 2011 hearing. (R. p. 25) Appellant Patrice Geddis was present at this hearing.

On January 18, 2012, the Special Referee issued a "Special Referee's Report and Final Order" ("Final Order"). In the Final Order, the Special Referee ruled that the Sample Survey accurately depicts the boundaries of the subject property, and that Plaintiffs' tract consists of 53.08 acres. The Special Referee also ruled as follows:

"Defendants Patrice Geddis and Cleveland Geddis have 30 days in which to file any motion for reconsideration of this order. That 30 day period begins on the day Ms. Geddis is served pursuant to Rule 5(b)(1), SCRCP, with a copy of this order as filed with the Clerk of Court." (R. p. 31-56)

Appellant Patrice Geddis retained counsel¹ who, on February 21, 2012, filed a document entitled "Motion to Reconsider, Alter, and Amend Decree, and for a New Trial." Attached to the motion was a survey of the subject property and adjoining property which was commissioned by Appellant Patrice Geddis following the hearing on November 17, 2011. This survey resulted in a plat prepared by Ashley Surveying Company which was completed on December 14, 2011 ("Ashley Survey"). (R. p. 57-60)

On August 14, 2012, a hearing was conducted on Appellant Patrice Geddis's motion.

¹ Appellant Patrice Geddis initially retained Ashley Andrews, Esq., as appellate counsel. Ms. Andrews subsequently withdrew as counsel with substitution by W. Scott Palmer, Esq.

Cleveland Geddis and Appellant Patrice Geddis and her legal counsel were present. Plaintiffs Irving T. Geddis and Harry M. Carroll also appeared with their legal counsel. Although there is no record of testimony being taken, it is apparent that the Special Referee considered statements from parties and gave consideration to the Ashley Survey. The Special Referee ruled “from the bench” that the Final Order would be vacated and the case set for trial. There exists no record of this hearing, either by recording or transcript.

Despite previously granting the motion and ordering a new trial, on February 13, 2013, the Special Referee issued an Order Denying Motion without further hearing. This Order was a “reversal” of the Special Referee's bench ruling at the August 14, 2012 hearing. This appeal follows from the Special Referee’s Order Denying Motion, dated February 13, 2013 and filed with the Clerk of Court February 14, 2013.

The Order Denying Motion was received by counsel for Appellant Patrice Geddis on February 14, 2013. On March 15, 2013, Appellant Patrice Geddis, through counsel, filed a Notice of Appeal.

ARGUMENTS

- I. THE SPECIAL REFEREE ERRED IN CONCLUDING THAT THE SUBJECT PROPERTY CONSISTS OF 53.08 ACRES INSTEAD OF THE 35 1/3 ACRES ORIGINALLY CONVEYED.

Normally, an action to quiet title to property is an action in equity. Clark v. Hargrave, 323 S.C. 84, 473 S.E.2d 474 (Ct.App.1996). However, the character, as legal or equitable, of an action is determined by the complaint in its main purpose, the nature of the issues as raised by the pleadings or the pleadings and proof, and the character of the relief sought under them. Here, the Plaintiffs claimed title to property based upon the information provided on the Sample Survey. The

determination of title to real property is legal in nature. Id. at 87, 473 S.E.2d at 476. Moreover, an adverse possession claim is an action at law. Id. Thus, an action to quiet title to real property, primarily involving the determination of title to real property based on adverse possession, should be characterized as an action at law. Id. Because an adverse possession claim is an action at law, the character of the possession is a question for the fact finder. Miller v. Leaird, 307 S.C. 56, 413 S.E.2d 841 (1992). Therefore, appellate review is limited to a determination of whether any evidence reasonably tends to support the trier of fact's findings.

In paragraph 9 of the January 18, 2012 Report and Final Order, the Special Referee found the Plaintiffs had met the burden of proving they are entitled to fee simple title to 53.08 acres, based upon a 2006 survey showing the same, despite the fact that the 1954 deed conveying title to Irvine T. Geddis, Sr. clearly cited a 35 1/3 acre conveyance in its legal description. The Court's rationale for the discrepancy in the deed and 2006 survey is as follows:

“The discrepancy between 35 1/3 acres and 54 acres *may* be attributable to no survey of the subject property contemporaneous with the conveyances in the first half of the 20th century, and none until 2006.” [emphasis added]. (R. p. 36)

Moreover, the Special Referee, in the same January 18, 2012 order, provided the Appellant time to retain counsel and procure her own survey, which she did. In a subsequent Order Denying Motion, the Special Referee discounted the Appellant's survey as unreliable, finding that it was “based upon comparisons of other plats and little field work, (R. p. 63), although there was no specific finding or indication otherwise in the record that the survey retained by the appellant had been examined by the court. Neither order issued by the Special Referee in this case provides a plausible explanation of why the Plaintiffs’ survey was given superior weight over that of the one offered by Appellant.

II. THE SPECIAL REFEREE ERRED IN FINDING THAT THE EVIDENCE PRESENTED BY THE PLAINTIFFS WAS SUFFICIENT TO PROVE THE ELEMENTS OF ADVERSE POSSESSION.

The burden of proof of adverse possession is on the one relying thereon. To constitute adverse possession, the possession must be actual, open, notorious, hostile, continuous, and exclusive for the entire statutory period. Mullis v. Winchester, 237 S.C. 487, 118 S.E.2d 61 (1961); Gregg v. Moore, 226 S.C. 366, 85 S.E.2d 279 (1954); Croft v. Sanders, 283 S.C. 507, 323 S.E.2d 791 (Ct.App.1984). The party asserting adverse possession must establish the claim by clear and convincing evidence. Davis v. Montieth, 289 S.C. 176, 345 S.E.2d 274 (1986).

The Plaintiffs failed to make a proper showing of clear and convincing evidence. The only evidence that appears in the record to have been offered as proof of the elements of adverse possession is the statement from the Transcript of Testimony filed by the Plaintiffs. (R. p. 27) However, this document offers only *general* assertions identical to those set forth in the Complaint. In this document, several of the Plaintiffs state that they “are informed and believe that their predecessors in interest have used all 54.03 acres of the Property,” and proceed to recite the six elements of adverse possession. There is no record of any of the Plaintiffs testifying in court to this effect, nor does it appear that any documentary evidence or exhibits were offered at the hearing. As such, Appellant Patrice Geddis had no opportunity to cross-examine the Plaintiffs as to their assertions set forth in the Transcript of Testimony.

The Plaintiffs alleged that they have “possessed” the subject property, that they contend consists of nearly 54 acres, under color of title. A party claiming title by adverse possession under color of title must show the extent of his possession. Weston v. Morgan, 162 S.C. 177, 160 S.E. 436 (1931). While color of title draws the constructive possession of the whole premises to the

actual possession of a part only, and is evidence of the extent of the possession claimed, it is not of itself evidence of adverse possession, and it does not follow that adverse possession can be proved by less evidence when the entry is under color of title than when it is not. The only purpose of color of title is to define the extent of the claim and to extend the possession beyond the actual occupancy to the whole property described in the instrument. Butler v. Lindsey, 293 S.C. 466, 361 S.E.2d 621 (Ct.App.1987).

Here, the deed upon which the original Order in 2002 was based, describes a tract consisting of 35 1/3 acres. Again, no evidence is present in the record to support the Special Referee's finding that the essential elements of adverse possession, especially "possession" itself, has taken place other than the 1954 deed that conveyed title to the Plaintiff, and a vague, self-serving allegation in the Transcript of Testimony offered to support the Complaint and Amended Complaint.

The Special Referee also relies upon the finding of the Master-in-Equity, in case number 2002-CP-18-593 that the Plaintiffs, or their predecessors, harvested timber on part of the property. It should be noted, however, that the 2002 order made reference to the subject property as consisting of only 35 1/3 acres. There is no finding as to how frequently the timber was harvested, by whom it was harvested, on what part of the subject property it was harvested, or how often it was harvested. The mere occasional harvesting of timber, without other evidence of possession, does not necessarily prove the elements of adverse possession. Occasional and temporary use or occupation does not constitute adverse possession. Atlantic Coast Line v. Searson, 137 S.C. 468, 135 S.E. 567 (1926).

Section 15-67-230, South Carolina Code of Laws, provides as follows:

What constitutes adverse possession under written instrument or court decree or judgment:

For the purpose of constituting an adverse possession by any person claiming a title founded upon a written instrument or a judgment or decree, land shall be deemed to have been possessed and occupied in the following cases:

- (1) When it has been usually cultivated or improved;
- (2) When it has been protected by a substantial enclosure;
- (3) When, although not enclosed, it has been used for the supply of fuel or of fencing timber, for the purposes of husbandry or for the ordinary use of the occupant; and
- (4) When a known farm or a single lot has been partly improved the portion of such farm or lot that may have been left not cleared or not enclosed, according to the usual course and custom of the adjoining country, shall be deemed to have been occupied for the same length of time as the part improved and cultivated.

Arguably, the harvesting of timber could fall under the definition of “usually cultivated”.