THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA

In the Court of Appeals

APPEAL FROM DORCHESTER COUNTY
Court of Common Pleas

Patrick R. Watts, Special Referee

Case No. 2013-000608

RECEIVED

MAR 17 2014

SC Court of Appeals

Irving T. Geddis, Jr., Harry M. Carroll, Barbara C. Stancil, and Joanne C. Wade,
.....Respondents,

v.

STATEMENT OF THE ISSUES ON APPEAL

- I. DID THE TRIAL COURT ERR IN CONCLUDING THAT THE REVISED SAMPLE PLAT CORRECTLY DEPICTS THE SUBJECT PROPERTY AS CONTAINING 53.8 ACRES?
- II. DID THE TRIAL COURT ERR IN ADDITIONALLY CONCLUDING THAT RESPONDENTS' POSSESSION OF THE SUBJECT PROPERTY UNDER COLOR OF TITLE SINCE 1954 SATISFIED THE ELEMENTS OF ADVERSE POSSESSION?
- III. DID THE TRIAL COURT ERR IN DENYING APPELLANT'S MOTION TO RECONSIDER?

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

The real property that is subject of this suit is situated in Dorchester County, South Carolina, and is described in the Amended Complaint as follows:

ALL that certain piece, lot or tract of land containing 54.03 acres, more or less, all is more fully shown on a plat entitled "Boundary Survey of 54.03 acres owned by Irving T. Geddis and Irma Carroll, Geddisville area Dorchester County, South Carolina," by Robert J. Sample, P.E. R.L.S., dated September 12, 2006, said plat being recorded in Dorchester County RMC's Office at Plat Cabinet L, Slide 32, on or about October 11, 2006.

BEING the same property conveyed to Irving T. Geddis, Sr., by deed of Adam E. Geddis, Katie Geddis, George E. Geddis, Maggie L. Thompson, Erma Geddis, Albert E. Geddis, Lilla Geddis, Harry Glenn, Thelma Glenn, Joshua Glenn, Joseph Glenn, Robert W. Geddis, Constance Geddis, Angie S. Minfee and Ornisha A Geddis dated August 31, 1954 and recorded in the RMC Office for Dorchester County in Deed Book 109, at page 73.

TMS No.: 174-00-00-007

("the Subject Property"), (R. p. 3, lines 3-19)

On November 14, 2007, Plaintiffs initiated this quiet title action as to the Subject Property by filing a Summons, Complaint and Lis Pendens with the Dorchester County Clerk of Court ("the present suit"). An Amended Summons, Amended Complaint, and Amended Lis Pendens were filed on December 6, 2007.

A previous suit had been commenced in April of 2002 to quiet title to the Subject Property. The court issued its Master's Report and Order in the previous case on January 12, 2004 ("the previous case Order") confirming fee simple title to the Subject Property in Irving T. Geddis, Jr., and his sister Irma Carroll. (R., p. 45, lines 5-20).

At the issuance of the previous case Order in 2004, the most recent recorded plat of the Subject Property was recorded in 1954 as it was being conveyed to Irving T. Geddis, Sr. This previous plat represents the Subject Property as 35 1/3 acres. Although this previous plat was apparently never recorded until 1954, it was prepared in 1888 by F.C. Schulz ("the Schulz Plat of 1888").

Two months after the issuance of the previous case Order, Irma Carroll died. In 2006, Irving T. Geddis, Jr., hired Robert J. Sample, P.E., R.L.S., to survey the Subject Property. The result was a plat showing the Subject Property with a size of 54.03 acres, which was recorded in the Dorchester County RMC's Office in October of 2006 ("the Sample Plat"). (R. p. 50). As a result of the discrepancies between the Schulz Plat of 1888 and the Sample Plat of 2006, Irving T. Geddis, Jr. and the devisees of Irma Carroll filed the present suit to confirm the acreage of the Subject Property. All of the Defendants were so named because they were believed to claim an ownership interest in one of the parcels adjoining the Subject Property. Fee simple title to the Subject Property had already been confirmed in Irving T. Geddis, Jr. and Irma Carroll by the previous case Order.

The record indicates that all named Defendants were served with the Amended Complaint. Defendant MWV Community Development and Land Management, LLC ("MWV CDLM"), and Defendant Patrice Geddis ("the Appellant") filed timely Answers.

The Appellant's *pro se* Answer consisted of a general denial and did not raise any affirmative defenses or counterclaims. The remaining named Defendants did not file responsive pleadings and were subsequently held to be in default.

On August 1, 2011, the court issued an order referring this action to the Special Referee for the determination of all outstanding issues. A hearing was held on November 17, 2011, after proper notice was given to all Defendants. Present at the hearing were counsel for Plaintiffs, counsel for MWV CDLM, the appointed Guardian ad Litem, and the Appellant who appeared *pro se*. Without objection, the Plaintiffs entered sworn transcripts of their testimony. Counsel for Plaintiffs and for MWV CDLM submitted a revised Sample Plat reflecting a mutual boundary line agreement between these parties. As a result of this agreement, the revised Sample Plat reduced the size of the Subject Property from 54.03 acres to 53.8 acres. (R. p. 54)

On January 18, 2012, the trial court issued its Special Referee's Report and Final Order ("the Final Order"). In the Final Order, the trial court found that the Sample Plat as revised by the mutual boundary agreement accurately depicts the boundaries of the Subject Property, and that Plaintiffs' tract consists of 53.8 acres.

Appellant then retained counsel who, on February 21, 2012, filed a Motion to Reconsider, Alter, and Amend Decree, and for a New Trial ("Motion to Reconsider"). Attached to the Motion to Reconsider was a "forensic survey" produced by Ashley Land Surveying, Inc., which overlaid a 35 1/3 acre parcel over the Subject Property ("the Forensic Survey"). (R. p.58)

On August 14, 2012, a hearing was held on Appellant's Motion to Reconsider. Appellant did not procure a court reporter to produce a transcript of the hearing on her

motion. Initially, the trial court orally ruled that the Forensic Survey was sufficient to order a new trial notwithstanding consideration of Dorchester County GIS Online Property Reports in rebuttal of the Forensic Survey. In its Order Denying Motion dated February 13, 2013 and filed February 14, 2013, however, the trial court ruled that after “[f]urther, lengthy deliberation,” Appellant’s Motion to Reconsider “should be denied entirely.” (R., p.64, lines 14-16).

On March 15, 2013, Appellant, through counsel, filed her Notice of Appeal.

ARGUMENTS

I. THE TRIAL COURT DID NOT ERR IN CONCLUDING THAT THE REVISED SAMPLE PLAT CORRECTLY DEPICTS THE SUBJECT PROPERTY AS CONTAINING 53.8 ACRES.

Normally, an action to quiet title to property is an action in equity. Clark v. Hargrave, 323 S.C. 84, 473 S.E.2d 474 (Ct.App.1996). However, the character, as legal or equitable, of an action is determined by the Complaint in its main purpose, the nature of the issues raised by the pleadings or the pleadings and proof, and the character of the relief sought under them. Here, the Respondents claim title to 53.8 acres based upon the information provided to them by the Sample Plat. The determination of title to real property is legal in nature. Id. at 87, 473 S.E.2d at 476. Therefore, appellate review as to this claim is limited to a determination of whether any evidence reasonably tends to support the trier of fact’s findings.

In the Final Order, the Special Referee - sitting as the trier of fact – found that Respondents had met their burden that the 1954 deed conveying title to Irving T. Geddis, Sr., had conveyed fee simple title to 53.8 acres. In reaching this determination, the trier of fact relied on the findings of a 2006 survey prepared by a professional engineer and

registered land surveyor, which had been approved and recorded in the public records of Dorchester County – the Sample Plat. Additionally, the Special Referee accepted and incorporated into the Final Order a revised Sample Plat reflecting a boundary line agreement between Respondents and MWV CDLM that changed slightly their mutual boundary but that in no manner affected the mutual boundary with Appellant. The Sample Plat as revised constitutes competent evidence that reasonably tends to support the trier of fact's findings and, as such, should remain undisturbed.

The Special Referee acknowledges the existence of the Schulz Plat of 1888 in Paragraph 9 of the Final Order when he finds that “[t]he discrepancy between 35 1/3 acres and 54 acres may be attributable to no survey of the subject Property contemporaneous with the conveyances in the first half of the twentieth century, and none until 2006.” (R., p. 34, lines 22-24). Appellant would seize upon the trier of fact's use of the term *may* as opposed to the clear meaning of this finding - that surveying technology and techniques have improved dramatically in the more than one hundred years between the Schulz Plat of 1888 and the Sample Plat.

II. THE TRIAL COURT DID NOT ERR IN ADDITIONALLY CONCLUDING THAT RESPONDENTS' POSSESSION OF THE SUBJECT PROPERTY UNDER COLOR OF TITLE SINCE 1954 SATISFIED THE ELEMENTS OF ADVERSE POSSESSION.

As an additional ground for confirming fee simple title of the 53.8 acres in Respondents, the trial court also concluded that their possession of the Subject Property under color of title since the 1954 deed into Irving T. Geddis, Sr., satisfies the elements of adverse possession.

To constitute adverse possession, the possession must be actual, open, notorious, hostile, continuous, and exclusive for the entire statutory period. Mullis v. Winchester,

237 S.C. 487, 118 S.E.2d 61 (1961). The party asserting adverse possession must establish the claim by clear and convincing evidence. Davis v. Monteith, 289 S.C. 176, 345 S.E.2d 274 (1986). Because an adverse possession is an action at law, the character of the possession is a question for the fact finder. Miller v. Leaird, 307 S.C. 56, 413 S.E.2d 841 (1992). Therefore, appellate review is limited to a determination of whether any evidence reasonably tends to support the trier of fact's findings.

Respondents are the heirs of Irving T. Geddis, Sr., who obtained title to the Subject Property in 1954. Respondent Irving T. Geddis, Jr., obtained title to the Subject Property by Deed of Distribution from his father's estate. The remaining Respondents obtained title to the Subject Property by Deed of Distribution from their mother Irma Carroll's estate in 2004. Irma Carroll also obtained title to the Subject Property by Deed of Distribution from her father Irving T. Geddis, Sr.'s estate. In order to claim adverse possession using Irving T. Geddis, Sr.'s possession of the Subject Property beginning in 1954, they do so through color of his title.

In the previous case Order filed January 12, 2004, the court held that "Irving T. Geddis, Sr., and his heirs and parties in interest ...occupied and used the Subject Property as their own under color of title for a period spanning over twenty consecutive years and more specifically, they used the land for harvesting timber." (R., p. 44, lines 13-17). In addition to the court's previously adjudicated finding in the previous case Order, the trier of fact in the present case relied upon testimony from all Respondents of possession and use of the Subject Property through the present that satisfies all of the elements of adverse possession.

The findings of fact and conclusions of law in the previous case Order holding that adverse possession under color of title from 1954 until 2004 and the transcripts of Respondents' testimony received without objection at the trial of the present case constitute competent evidence that reasonably tends to support the trier of fact's findings as to adverse possession and, as such, should remain undisturbed.

III. THE TRIAL COURT DID NOT ERR IN DENYING APPELLANT'S MOTION TO RECONSIDER.

The Final Order provided Appellant with thirty days in which to file any motion for reconsideration with the thirty day period beginning on the day she was served pursuant to Rule 5(b)(1), SCRCP, with a filed copy of the Final Order. On February 21, 2012, she timely filed her Motion to Reconsider with an attached document entitled "Forensic Survey Detailing Area Claimed by the Owners of TMS 174-00-00-007 & 008."

The purpose of Rule 59(e), SCRCP - to alter or amend - is to request the trial judge to "reconsider matters properly encompassed in a decision on the merits." Pye v. Estate of Fox, 369 S.C. 555, 565, 633 S.E.2d 505, 510 (2006) (quoting Arnold v. State, 309 S.C. 157, 172, 420 S.E.2d 834, 842 (1992)). "A party may wish to file such a motion when she believes the court has misunderstood, failed to fully consider, or perhaps failed to rule on an argument or issue, and the party wishes the court to reconsider or rule on it." Elam v. South Carolina Dep't of Transp., 361 S.C. 9, 24, 602 S.E.2d 772, 780 (2004).

Upon reviewing the Motion to Reconsider with the attached Forensic Survey along with the Dorchester County GIS Property Reports for the two parcels, the Special Referee initially ruled orally that he would order a new trial. Upon further, lengthy

deliberation, the Special Referee reversed himself and entered his written Order Denying Motion.

On its face, the Forensic Survey is just what it purports to be – an attempt to match up historical surveys of the area in question. As the Special Referee concludes from the face of the Forensic Survey, it is “based upon comparisons of other plats with little field work.” At its core, the Forensic Survey is an attempt to overlay the Schulz Plat of 1888 upon the Sample Plat. (R., p. 63, lines 5-8). The trial court had already found the Sample Plat to be superior to the 19th Century technology and techniques of the Schulz Plat in its Final Order, and found nothing in the Forensic Survey to reconsider its ruling. To the contrary, the trial court found that the Forensic Survey showed substantial projections of the 35 acres as depicted in the Schulz Plat of 1888 across Respondents’ common boundary lines with MWV CDLM. (R., p. 63, lines 7-9) . Further, when comparing the Appellant’s parcel as depicted in Dorchester County GIS Property Report, the trial court concluded that the Forensic Survey “fails to account for a huge segment of their property to the north.” The Forensic Survey’s depiction of the shape and size of the Appellant’s property “does not comport at all with the GIS Property Report’s depiction.” As a result, the trial court discounted the Forensic Survey in its entirety. (R.p. 64, lines 1-15).

The trial court also concludes that in ruling in Respondents’ favor, the Appellant “loses nothing.” The Dorchester County GIS Property Report shows Appellant’s property was still 76 acres, right alongside Respondents’ 54 acres. According to the public records of Dorchester County, there is no overlap. (R., p. 63, lines 26-29). Ironically, the Forensic Survey includes on its face a “Proposed Settlement Line” which -